IPPJ-AM-27

RECOMMENDED DATA ON EXCITATION OF CARBON AND OXYGEN IONS BY ELECTRON COLLISIONS

Y.ITIKAWA, S.HARA, T.KATO, S.NAKAZAKI M.S.PINDZOLA AND D.H.CRANDALL

INSTITUTE OF PLASMA PHYSICS NAGOYA UNIVERSITY

NAGOYA, JAPAN



IPPJ-AM-27

RECOMMENDED DATA ON EXCITATION OF CARBON AND OXYGEN IONS BY ELECTRON COLLISIONS

.

.

Y. Itikawa¹⁾, S. Hara²⁾, T. Kato, S. Nakazaki³⁾ M.S. Pindzola⁴⁾ and D.H. Crandall⁵⁾

Institute of Plasma Physics, Nagoya University Chikusa-ku, Nagoya 464, Japan

June 1983

Permanent address:

,

- 1) Institute of Space and Astronautical Science
- 2) Institute of Physics, University of Tsukuba
- 3) Department of Applied Physics, Faculty of Engineering, Miyazaki University
- 4) Physics Department, Auburn University
- 5) Physics Division, Oak Ridge National Laboratory

This document is prepared as a preprint of compilation of atomic data for fusion research sponsored fully or partly by the IPP/Nagoya University. This is intended for future publication in a journal or will be included in a data book after some evaluations or rearrangements of its contents. This document should not be referred without the agreement of the authors. Enquiries about copyright and reproduction should be addressed to Research Information Center, IPP/Nagoya University, Nagoya, Japán.

Abstract

.

Cross sections have been compiled for electron impact excitation of carbon and oxygen ions. A selection has been made to recommend 'best' values for use. The resulting recommended values are fitted to an analytical formula and the fitting coefficients are given in a table. The cross sections (in the form of collision strengths) and the rate coefficients calculated therefrom are shown graphically. The reliability of the recommended data is roughly estimated.

CONTENTS

•

I.	Introduction			
	Scope		1	
	Procedure of data compilation and evaluation		2	
	Explanation of tables and figures		5	
	Acknowledgements		6	
	References for Introduction		7	
II.	Fitting parameters of the recommended collision strengths			
	and rate coefficients			
	C VI		9	
	C V		10	
	C IV		12	
	C III		13	
	C II		16	
	O VIII	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	18	
	O VII		19	
	O VI		21	
	0 V .		22	
	O IV		25	
	O III		27	
	O II	•••••	29	
III.	II. Recommended collision strengths and rate coefficients:			
	Graphs and discussions			
	H – like (C VI, O VIII)		31	
		Fig. 1 – 8		

·	He – like (C V, O VII)		41
		Fig. 9 – 27	
	Li – like (C IV, O VI)		63
	·	Fig. 28 – 31	
	Be – like (C III, O V)		69
		Fig. 32 – 52	
	B – like (C II, O IV)		92
		Fig. 53 – 65	
	C – like (O III)		107
	,	Fig. 66 – 81	
	N – like (O II)		125
		Fig. 82 – 86	
A	ppendix	•••••	132
		,	

.

.

.

.

^

.

.

I. Introduction

Scope

Electron-impact excitation of atomic ions plays a fundamental role in hightemperature plasmas of interest in thermonuclear fusion research and astrophysics.¹⁾ The photon emission caused by the electron-ion collisions, for instance, determines the power balance and provides a useful plasma diagnostics (almost the only one in the case of astrophysics). Cross sections or rates of the electron-impact excitation of ions are the most basic data needed in the relevant research fields.

Although very few detailed (beam type) measurements have been done so far, a large number of data on the excitation cross section are available from theoretical calculations.^{2,3}) Those data, however, are scattered throughout the literature so that it is often difficult to find the appropriate one. Furthermore, the reliability of the theore⁺:cal results varies widely depending on the approximate methods used. Thus it is valuable to compile all the data available and assess the reliability of them. The present report is the result of our efforts for all the ions of carbon and oxygen. As a final product, we present here the cross sections (in the form of collision strengths) recommended to be 'best' at the present time for various excitation processes. For users' convenience, the rate coefficients calculated with the Maxwellian distribution of electron velocity are also presented.

The present activity of data compilation and evaluation has been performed as a collaborative program of the U.S. and Japan atomic data centers for fusion research (the Controlled Fusion Atomic Data Center of Oak Ridge National Laboratory and the Research Information Center of Institute of Plasma Physics, Nagoya University). The work is also incorporated in the Coordinated Research Program on Atomic Collision Data for Diagnostics of Magnetic Fusion Plasmas organized by International Atomic Energy Agency.

Procedure of data compilation and evaluation

٠

In this report, cross sections are expressed in terms of collision strengths. For the excitation of a state i to f, the cross section is given by

$$-Q_{if}(in \pi a_0^2) = \frac{\Omega_{if}}{\omega_i E_e(in R_y)}$$
(1)

$$= \frac{1}{\omega_{i} V_{if} (in R_{y})} \frac{\Omega_{if}}{X} , \qquad (2)$$

where E_e is the energy of the incident electron, ω_i is the statistical weight of the initial state, V_{if} is the excitation energy, and Ω_{if} is the collision strength. The reduced electron energy is defined by

$$X = E_e / V_{if} \quad . \tag{3}$$

In many cases, Ω_{if} is expressed as a function of X. When the cross section and energy are given in the units of cm² and eV, respectively, we have

$$Q_{if} (in cm^2) = 11.969 \times 10^{-16} \frac{\Omega_{if}}{\omega_i E_e (in eV)}$$
 (4)

= 11.969 x 10⁻¹⁶
$$\frac{1}{\omega_{i} V_{if} (in eV)} \frac{\Omega_{if}}{X}$$
 (5)

With the Maxwellian distribution of electron velocity for temperature T_e , the rate coefficients are calculated by

 R_{if} (in cm³ sec⁻¹)

$$= \frac{8.010 \times 10^{-8}}{\omega_{i} \sqrt{T_{e} (in eV)}} y \int_{1}^{\infty} dX \Omega_{if} (X) e^{-yX}$$
(6)

with

$$y = V_{if}/T_e$$
 (7)

The literature was surveyed extensively through early $1982.^{2,3}$ At the final stage of the preparation of the manuscript, some very recent (up to the end of 1982) results have been included. In the present report, all available data, except for 2s-2p excitation of C IV, are theoretical. Based on the critical review of the theoretical methods used, the most reliable data were selected from the literature. In so doing, the following points were taken into account:

(1) The accuracy of the wave functions employed in the calculation for the target (ion) states.

(2) The validity of the approximations imposed on the collision dynamics (the degree of the channel couplings, the method of representation of the electron exchange, etc.)(3) Whether and how the resonance effects are considered.

In some cases, an inquiry was made to the original authors to get detailed information about their methods of calculations. When the most accurate results are available only in a limited range of electron energies, an extrapolation was made with the help of other calculations. The actual data compilation and evaluation was performed first independently by the U.S. and Japan data centers. Then the results were compared in detail to determine the final set of the recommended data.

Once the recommended cross sections were determined, a fitting was made to analytical formulas, which facilitates their application. Two types of formulas have been used:

Type 1

$$\Omega_{\rm if}(X) = A + \frac{B}{X} + \frac{C}{X^2} + \frac{D}{X^3} + E \, \ell n X \tag{8}$$

Type 2

$$\Omega_{\rm if}(X) = \frac{A}{X^2} + Be^{-FX} + Ce^{-2FX} + De^{-3FX} + Ee^{-4FX}$$
(9)

Here A,B,C,D,E, and F are adjustable coefficients. Because of its simplicity the Type 1 is used in most cases. With the use of these formulas, the rate coefficients can be calculated easily in the form

R(in cm³ sec⁻¹) =
$$\frac{8.010 \times 10^{-8}}{\omega_i \sqrt{T_e(eV)}} e^{-y} \gamma$$

with, for Type 1,

$$\gamma = y \left\{ \left(\frac{A}{y} + C \right) + \frac{D}{2} (1 - y) + e^{y} E_{1}(y) \left(B - Cy + \frac{D}{2} y^{2} + \frac{E}{y} \right) \right\}$$
(10)

and, for Type 2,

• •

$$\gamma = Ay \left\{ 1 - e^{y} E_{1}(y)y \right\} + \left\{ \frac{B}{F+y} e^{-F} + \frac{C}{2F+y} e^{-2F} + \frac{D}{3F+y} e^{-3F} + \frac{E}{4F+y} e^{-4F} \right\} y$$
(11)

where $E_1(y) = \int_y^{\infty} \frac{e^{-t}}{t} dt$.

The fitting error is usually less than 10% and always less than the estimated inaccuracy of the recommended cross sections.

The resonance effect is included as far as it is known to be large and any quantitative information is available. Usually we can divide the collision strength into two parts

$$\Omega = \Omega_{\rm NR}(X) \qquad \text{for } X \ge X_1 \qquad (12a)$$

$$= \Omega_R (X) \qquad \text{for } 1 \le X < X_1 , \qquad (12b)$$

where Ω_R and Ω_{NR} are obtained by the calculation with and without resonance effects, respectively. The energy X₁ defines the region where the resonance effect dominates. Since Ω_R has a complicated resonance structure as a function of X, it is almost impossible to fit it to any simple formula. Instead we introduce an effective collision strength in the form

$$\Omega_R^{\text{eff}}(X) = PX + Q \quad \text{for } 1 \le X \le X_1 . \tag{13}$$

Rate coefficients calculated with Ω_{NR} and Ω_R^{eff} are compared to those presented in the original literature which considered resonance effects. Then the parameters P and Q are determined. To better reproduce the rate coefficients X₁ is adjusted also within the theoretically reasonable values. In the following tables, the fitting coefficients A,B, ... for Ω_{NR} and P,Q for Ω_R^{eff} are given. The Ω_R^{eff} , therefore, does not represent the resonance structure of Ω_R but the rate coefficients obtained therefrom give values including the average effect of the resonance.

Explanation of tables and figures

In the next section, the fitting coefficients are given in a tabular form for each excitation process. With these coefficients and the excitation energy (V_{if} , also shown in the table) one can easily obtain numerical values of the cross section or the rate coefficient. In the Appendix, a FORTRAN code is given for the calculation of the rate coefficient. The numerical values of V_{if} have been taken from the NBS tables⁴) (All the original cross sections, on which the present recommended data are based, are stored in the computerized data base (AMDIS) at the Research Information Center, IPP/Nagoya. Those cross sections are available through an on-line terminal or upon request to the Center.)

When using the present recommended data, one should note their validity range and accuracy, both of which are indicated in the table. We have derived the analytical formulas by a fitting procedure over the finite range of electron energies for which the original data exist. It is dangerous to simply extend the formulas outside of their validity range. The accuracy attached to each recommended value should not be considered too rigorous, since it represents only an "educated guess" in most cases.

- 5 -

In Section III, the recommended values of rate coefficients and collision strengths are shown in a graphical form. When the resonance effect is included, the resonance region is indicated by a hatch in the figure of collision strength, instead of showing Ω_R^{eff} there. A brief discussion about the data evaluation and the relevant data sources are given for each isoelectronic stage of the ions. The literature shown is only that selected to provide the recommended data. Other literature is shown in the bibliography.^{2,3)} The data source lists include a notation indicating the excitation process for which the source is used and the theoretical method employed in the calculation.

Acknowledgements

The authors are indebted to a number of people for their kind help during the course of the present data compilation and evaluation. On the Japanese side, special thanks are due to Profs. K. Takayanagi, H. Suzuki and T. Kagawa and Dr. Y. Nakai, who were the members of the working group for data evaluation at the Research Information Center, IPP/Nagoya. The authors would also like to thank Drs. A.K. Bhatia, M. Blaha, J.B. Mann, A.L. Merts, D.W. Norcross and J.M. Peek, who provided detailed information about their calculations.

. . . .

References for Introduction

- For the most recent review article, see D.H. Crandall: Electron-Ion Collisions, in "Atomic Physics of Highly Ionized Atoms" ed. by R. Marrus and J.P. Briand (Plenum, 1983).
- K. Takayanagi and T. Iwai: Bibliography on electron collisions with atomic positive ions: 1940 through 1977, IPPJ-AM-7 (Inst. Plasma Phys., Nagoya Univ., Nagoya, 1978).
- Y. Itikawa: Bibliography on electron collisions with atomic positive ions, 1978 through 1982, IPPJ-AM-24 (Inst. Plasma Phys., Nagoya Univ., Nagoya, 1982).
- C.E. Moore: Atomic Energy Levels, vol. I, NSRDS-NBS 35 (1971); Selected Tables of Atomic Spectra, NSRDS-NBS 3, Section 3 (1970), Section 7 (1976), Section 8 (1979).

~

II. Fitting parameters of the recommended collision strengths and rate coefficients For each excitation process, the following are presented in the table:

1st line: (initial-final) states

excitation energy, V (in eV) validity range, $X=X_{min} - X_{max}$ type of the fitting formula [see Eqs (8), (9)] . estimated accuracy (A ~ 20%, B ~ 50%, C ~ factor of two) 2nd line: fitting coefficients, A,B,C,D,E,F (only for type 2)

3rd line (when the resonance effect is included):

fitting coefficients, P,Q and the resonance region, X_1 [see Eq (13)]

All the numerical coefficients are expressed in the form

 $2.048 - 1 = 2.048 \times 10^{-1}$

C VI (H like)

-

- <u>1s 2s</u> V=367.5eV X \ge 1.33 Type 1 Accuracy A A=2.730-2 B=-3.780-2 C=3.270-2 D=0.0 E=0.0
 - $\frac{-2p}{A=1.040-2} \quad V=367.5eV \quad X \ge 1.33 \quad Type 1 \quad Accuracy A$
 - $\frac{-3s}{A=4.866-3} \qquad V=435.5eV \qquad X=1.0-20.0 \qquad Type 1 \qquad Accuracy B$
 - $\begin{array}{cccc} -3p & V=435.5eV & X=1.0-20.0 & Type 1 & Accuracy A \\ \hline A=5.264-3 & B=7.181-4 & C=1.064-2 & D=0.0 & E=2.136-2 \end{array}$
 - $\begin{array}{cccc} -3d & V=435.6eV & X=1.0-20.0 & Type 1 & Accuracy B \\ \hline A=3.877-3 & B=-6.120-3 & C=4.175-3 & D=1.502-3 & E=0.0 \end{array}$
 - $\frac{-4s}{A=1.810-3} = \frac{V=459.4eV}{B=-9.661-4} = \frac{V=1.0-20.0}{C=1.295-3} = \frac{1000}{D=-7.331-4} = \frac{1000}{E=0.00}$
 - $-4p \qquad V=459.4eV \qquad X=1.0-20.0 \qquad Type 1 \qquad Accuracy A$ $A=2.682-3 \qquad B=-9.488-4 \qquad C=4.655-3 \qquad D=0.0 \qquad E=7.416-3$
 - $\frac{-5p}{A=1.573-3} = 1.033-3 C=2.628-3 D=0.0 E=3.438-3$

 $\frac{-1s2p^{3}P}{A=1.850-5} \xrightarrow{V=304.4eV} X=1.05-42.0 \text{ Type 1} \text{ Accuracy A}$ $A=1.850-5 \xrightarrow{B=-1.77-3} C=6.155-2 \xrightarrow{D=-1.570-2} E=0.0$ [P=1.786-2 Q=2.710-2 X1=1.28]

- $\underbrace{-1s2p \ ^{1}P}_{A=-6.756-3} \quad V=307.9eV \quad X=1.02-56.0 \quad Type \ 1 \quad Accuracy \ A \\ B=2.554-2 \quad C=1.448-2 \quad D=0.0 \quad E=1.313-1$
- $\frac{-1 \text{s}3\text{d}^3\text{D}}{\text{A}=5.061-5} \quad \begin{array}{r} \text{V}=354.3\text{eV} \quad \text{X}=1.0-5.0 \quad \text{Type 1} \quad \text{Accuracy C} \\ \text{B}=-5.619-4 \quad \text{C}=2.116-3 \quad \text{D}=7.610-4 \quad \text{E}=0.0 \end{array}$
- $\frac{-1s3p^{1}P}{A=1.286-2} = \frac{V=354.5eV}{B=-2.133-2} = \frac{X=1.0-56.4}{C=1.656-2} = \frac{Type}{D=0.0} = \frac{1}{E=2.107-2} = \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2}$
- $\frac{1s2s\ ^3S 1s2s\ ^1S}{A=8.467-3} \xrightarrow{V=5.43eV} X=1.96-119.3 \text{ Type 1} \text{ Accuracy B}$
 - $\frac{-1s2p {}^{3}P}{A=4.806 B=2.003+1 C=-8.582 D=0.0 E=5.148} V=5.45eV X=1.89-1000 Type 1 Accuracy B$
 - $\frac{-1s2p \ ^{1}P}{A=-5.935-3} \quad V=8.94eV \quad X=1.17-70 \quad Type \ 1 \quad Accuracy \ B$

C V (continued)

•

.

$$\frac{1s2s {}^{1}S - 1s2p {}^{3}F}{A=1.187-2} = \frac{V=0.022eV}{B=4.767-2} = \frac{X=23.7-7762}{C=-3.971-2} = \frac{Type 2}{D=3.753-2} = \frac{1}{2} = \frac{$$

$$\frac{-1s2p \ ^{1}P}{A=2.073 \ B=3.990} \ V=3.51eV \ X=1.43-1000 \ Type 1 \ Accuracy B$$

$$\frac{1s2p \ ^{3}P - 1s2p \ ^{1}P}{A=2.487-2} \xrightarrow{V=3.49eV} X=1.46-80.0 \text{ Type 2 Accuracy B}$$

$$\begin{array}{c|c} -1 \text{s}3\text{s} \ {}^3\text{S} & \text{V=47.65eV} & \text{X=1.0-42.0} & \text{Type 1} & \text{Accuracy C} \\ \hline \text{A=-1.091-1} & \text{B=2.359-1} & \text{C=-5.644-2} & \text{D=0.0} & \text{E=1.758-1} \end{array}$$

۰ ۱

.-

3

C IV (Li like)

۵

- $\frac{2s^{2}S 2p^{2}P}{A=4.103} = 6.410 C=-1.677 D=0.0 E=4.688$
 - - $\frac{-3p^{2}P}{A=-5.731-1} = \frac{V=39.68eV}{B=9.548-1} = \frac{X=1.375-100}{C=-8.931-2} = \frac{T}{D=0.0} = \frac{1}{D=0.0} = \frac{1$
 - $\frac{-3d^{2}D}{A=1.252} \qquad V=40.28eV \qquad X=1.355-100 \qquad \text{Type 1} \qquad \text{Accuracy A}$

C III (Be like)

 $\frac{2s^{2} {}^{1}S - 2s2p {}^{3}P}{A = -4.024 - 2} = \frac{V = 6.50eV}{B = 2.914} = \frac{X = 3.14 - 39.9}{C = -4.344} = \frac{V = 6.50eV}{D = 2.121} = \frac{V = 1}{E = 0.0}$

•

 $\frac{-2s2p \ ^{1}P}{A=-1.294} \xrightarrow{V=12.69eV} X=1.05-100 \text{ Type 1} \text{ Accuracy A}$

 $\begin{array}{c|c} -2p^{2} \ ^{3}P & V=17.04eV & X=1.04-11.0 & Type 1 & Accuracy B \\ A=-1.941-3 & B=3.086-2 & C=-1.387-2 & D=-4.363-3 & E=0.0 \\ P=5.389-3 & Q=7.167-3 & X1=2.0 \end{bmatrix}$

 $\frac{-2p^{2} \ ^{1}D}{A=2.785-1} \quad V=18.09eV \quad X=1.04-17.78 \quad Type \ 1 \qquad Accuracy \ B$

- $\frac{-2s3s^{3}S}{A=2.709-8} \xrightarrow{V=29.53eV} X=1.01-150 \text{ Type 1} \text{ Accuracy C}$
- $\begin{array}{c|c} -2 s 3 s \ {}^{1}S \\ A = 6.082 1 \end{array} \begin{array}{c} V = 30.64 e V \\ B = -1.927 1 \end{array} \begin{array}{c} V = 3.615 2 \\ C = -3.615 2 \end{array} \begin{array}{c} T y p e \ 1 \\ D = 3.487 2 \\ E = 0.0 \end{array} \begin{array}{c} A c c u r a c y \\ C = -3.615 2 \\ C$
- $\begin{array}{c|c} -2s3p \ ^{1}P & V=32.10eV \ X=1.01-150 \ Type \ 1 & Accuracy \ C \\ \hline A=-4.225-1 & B=4.879-1 \ C=-3.487-2 \ D=0.0 \ E=4.107-1 \end{array}$
- $\frac{-2s3p \ ^{3}P}{A=4.886-4} \ \ V=32.20eV \ \ X=1.01-150 \ \ Type \ 1 \ \ Accuracy \ C$

. •

C III (continued)

.

 $2s^{2} \frac{1}{S} = 2s^{3} \frac{3}{D}$ V=33.48eV X=1.01-150 Type 1 Accuracy C A=2.612-6 B=-7.936-3 C=3.669-1 D=1.441-1 E=0.0

$$\frac{-2s3d^{-1}D}{A=9.396-1} = 1.105 C=9.915-2 D=2.186-1 E=0.0$$

 $\frac{2s2p \ ^{3}P - 2s2p \ ^{1}P}{A=8.343-2} \xrightarrow{V=6.19eV} X=1.0-4.16 \text{ Type 1} \text{ Accuracy B}$ $\frac{P=-1.154}{P=4.749} \xrightarrow{V=6.19eV} X=1.0-4.16 \text{ Type 1} \text{ Accuracy B}$

$$\frac{-2p^{2} ^{3}P}{A=9.842} = -8.660 C=2.184+1 D=0.0 E=1.631+1$$
 Accuracy B

$$\frac{-2p^{2} \ ^{1}D}{A=4.974-1} = \frac{V=11.59eV}{B=3.363-1} = \frac{X=1.05-2.24}{C=2.336} = \frac{V=11.59eV}{D=-1.868} = \frac{V=11.59eV}{E=0.0}$$

$$\frac{-2p^{2} \text{ IS}}{\text{A}=7.322-2} \text{ B}=5.703-2 \text{ C}=-3.981-2 \text{ D}=5.783-2 \text{ E}=0.0 \text{ D}=5.783-2 \text{ E$$

 $\frac{2s2p \ ^{1}P - 2p^{2} \ ^{3}P}{A^{=} - 8.624 - 3} \quad \begin{array}{c} V = 4.35eV \quad X = 1.0 - 33.7 \quad \text{Type 1} \\ B = 4.141 \quad C = -7.089 \quad D = 3.824 \quad E = 0.0 \\ P = 7.072 - 1 \quad Q = 2.889 - 1 \quad X1 = 1.85 \end{array}$

$$\frac{-2p^{2} {}^{1}D}{A=3.762} = 9.351 C=-3.004 D=0.0 E=7.320 Type 1 Accuracy B$$

$$\frac{-2p^{2} \text{ IS}}{A=3.032 \text{ B}=-2.375 \text{ C}=2.675 \text{ D}=0.0 \text{ E}=2.991}$$

$$\text{Accuracy B}$$

C III (continued)

•

.

$$\frac{2p^2 {}^{3}P - 2p^2 {}^{1}D}{A=1.925 B=1.440+1 C=-3.560+1 D=2.727+1 E=0.0}$$

$$\frac{-2p^2 {}^{1}S}{A=4.319-2 B=1.004 C=-1.037 D=3.630-1 E=0.0}$$
Accuracy B

.

$$\frac{2p^{2} {}^{1}D - 2p^{2} {}^{1}S}{A=8.948-1} = 8.607-1 C=1.007 D=-4.136-1 E=0.0 Accuracy B$$

- 15 -

.

- $\frac{2s^{2}2p}{A^{2}P-2s^{2}p^{2}P} = V = 5.33eV \qquad X = 1.01 28.84 \qquad \text{Type 2} \qquad \text{Accuracy B}$
 - $\frac{-2s2p^2 \ ^2D}{A=-2.155} \quad V=9.29eV \quad X=1.62-100 \quad Type \ 1 \quad Accuracy \ B$

$$\frac{-2s2p^{2} {}^{2}S}{A=8.572-1} = 2.079-1 C=7.058-1 D=0.0 E=4.136$$

$$\frac{-2s2p^{2} {}^{2}P}{A=-6.883-1} = 4.106 C=3.435-1 D=0.0 E=1.631+1$$
 Accuracy B

$$\frac{-2s^23s^2S}{A=-9.843-1} = 2.983 C=-9.975-1 D=0.0 E=8.910-1$$

$$\frac{-2s^2 3p^2 P}{A=1.678 B=-2.238 C=4.829 D=0.0 E=0.0}$$
 Type 1 Accuracy C

$$\frac{-2s^{2}3d^{2}D}{A=-1.703} = 2.675 C=1.165 D=0.0 E=5.791$$
 Accuracy B

 $\frac{2s^2p^2 \ ^2P - 2s^2p^2 \ ^2D}{A = -2.799} \ \ B = -3.349 \ \ C = 2.420 + 1 \ \ D = -5.326 + 1 \ \ E = 4.093 + 1 \ \ F = 2.2 - 2$

$$\frac{-2s2p^2 \ ^2S}{A=-7.513-1} = -6.903-3 C=5.230-1 D=-1.767 E=2.847 F=6.0-2$$

 $\underbrace{-2s2p^{2} \ ^{2}P}_{A=-4.959-1} V=8.38eV} V=8.38eV X=1.09-25.70 Type 2 Accuracy B$

$$\frac{2s2p^{2} {}^{2}D - 2s2p^{2} {}^{2}S}{A=6,241-1} = 2.283 C=-1.415 D=0.0 E=5.071-1$$
Accuracy B

.

.

.

 $\frac{-2s2p^{2} {}^{2}P}{A=-1.645-1} = 1.918+1 C=-3.479+1 D=1.897+1 E=0.0 Accuracy B$

$$\frac{2s2p^{2} {}^{2}S - 2s2p^{2} {}^{2}P}{A = -1.273 - 1} = 1.126 C = -4.665 D = 8.542 E = -4.666 F = 2.3 - 2$$

O VIII (H like)

.

 $\frac{-2p}{A=3.980-3} \quad V=653.6eV \quad X \ge 1.33 \quad Type 1 \quad Accuracy A$

- $\frac{1s^{2} {}^{1}S 1s2s {}^{3}S}{A = -2.330 5} = 1.029 3 = 5.973 3 = -2.860 3 = 0.0$ [P=-5.220-2 Q=6.500-2 X1=1.18]
 - $\frac{-1s2p \ ^{3}P}{A=5.740-5} \quad V=568.6eV \quad X=1.0-30.0 \quad Type \ 1 \quad Accuracy \ A}$ $[P=1.815-2 \quad Q=7.020-3 \quad X1=1.2]$
 - $\frac{-1s2s \, {}^{1}S}{A=1.605-2} \quad V=568.7eV \quad X=1.0-30.0 \quad \text{Type 1} \quad \text{Accuracy A}$

 - $\begin{array}{c|c} -1 \text{s}3\text{s}\ ^3\text{S} & \text{V=661.9eV} & \text{X=1.01-300} & \text{Type 1} & \text{Accuracy B} \\ \text{A=-2.095-6} & \text{B=9.692-5} & \text{C=2.286-3} & \text{D=-1.469-3} & \text{E=0.0} \end{array}$
 - $\frac{-1s3p^{3}P}{A=1.646-5} \xrightarrow{V=664.0eV} X=1.01-21.4 \text{ Type 1} \text{ Accuracy B}$
 - $\frac{-1 \text{s}3 \text{s}^{1} \text{S}}{\text{A}=2.962-3} \quad \begin{array}{c} \text{V}=664.1 \text{eV} \quad \text{X}=1.01-30.0 \quad \text{Type 1} \quad \text{Accuracy B} \\ \text{B}=-1.324-3 \quad \text{C}=-5.756-5 \quad \text{D}=1.415-4 \quad \text{E}=0.0 \end{array}$

 $\frac{-1 \text{s}3\text{d}^3\text{D}}{\text{A}=2.406-5} \quad \begin{array}{c} \text{V}=665.1\text{eV} \quad \text{X}=1.01-30.0 \quad \text{Type 1} \quad \text{Accuracy B} \\ \text{B}=-5.986-5 \quad \text{C}=5.180-4 \quad \text{D}=9.704-4 \quad \text{E}=0.0 \end{array}$

 $\frac{-1 \text{s}3 \text{d}^{-1} \text{D}}{\text{A=}1.797-3} = \frac{1}{\text{B}} \frac{1}{\text{C}} = 2.615-3 \text{ C} = 8.263-4 \text{ D} = 2.189-4 \text{ E} = 0.0 \text{ C}$

- $\frac{1s^{2} \ ^{1}S 1s3p \ ^{1}P}{A=4.432-3} \xrightarrow{V=665.6eV} X=1.01-30.0 \text{ Type 1} \text{ Accuracy B}$
- $\frac{1 \times 2 \times 3^{3} \times 2 \times 2 \times 3^{3} \times 2 \times 2 \times 3^{3} \times 2 \times 3^{3} \times 2 \times 3^{3} \times 2 \times 3^{3} \times 3^{3}$
 - $\frac{-1s2s {}^{1}S}{A=8.573-3} = \frac{V=7.77eV}{B} = 2.091-1 = \frac{V=7.77eV}{C} = \frac{V=1.85-60.5}{D=1.878-1} = \frac{V=0.01}{E} = 0.00$
 - $\frac{-1s2p \ ^{1}P}{A=-2.606-3} \quad V=12.96eV \quad X=1.09-90.71 \quad Type \ 1 \quad Accuracy \ B$
 - $\frac{-1s3p^{3}P}{A=-1.000 \text{ B}=1.927 \text{ C}=-8.014-1 \text{ D}=0.0 \text{ E}=7.928-1}$ Accuracy B
- $\frac{1s2p\ ^{3}P-1s2s\ ^{1}S}{A=4.214-3} \xrightarrow{V=0.186eV} X=23.7-597 \qquad \text{Type 2} \qquad \text{Accuracy C} \\ F=2.0-3 \qquad \text{Accuracy C} = 1.919-1 \qquad \text{Accuracy C} = 1.$

 - $\begin{array}{c|c} -1 s3s \ {}^3S \\ A=-4.914-2 \end{array} \begin{array}{c} V=93.35 eV \\ B=1.152-1 \end{array} \begin{array}{c} X=1.0-21.4 \\ C=-2.967-2 \\ D=0.0 \\ E=8.232-2 \end{array} \begin{array}{c} Accuracy \ C \\ E=8.232-2 \end{array}$
- $\frac{1s2s {}^{1}S 1s2p {}^{1}P}{A=9.145-1} \xrightarrow{V=5.19eV} X=1.31-219.9 \text{ Type 1} \text{ Accuracy B}$

O VI (Li like)

 $\frac{2s^{2}S - 2p^{2}P}{A=2.458} = 4.108 C=-1.364 D=0.0 E=2.155$ Type 1 Accuracy A

.

 $\frac{-3p^{2}P}{A=-5.263-1} = \frac{V=82.60eV}{B=9.758-1} = \frac{X=1.01-100}{C=-3.297-1} = \frac{V=1.01-100}{D=0.0} = \frac{V=1.01-100}{E=4.039-1}$ [P=0.0 Q=3.400-1 X1=1.012]

 $\frac{-3d^{2}D}{A=6.552-1} = -6.557-1 C=3.349-1 D=-3.643-3 E=0.0 V=83.64eV$

•

4

$$\frac{2s^2 \, ^1S - 2s2p \, ^3P}{A = -2.210 - 2} \quad V = 10.20eV \quad X = 1.2 - 31.7 \quad \text{Type 1} \quad \text{Accuracy B}$$

$$[P = -1.001 - 1 \quad Q = 6.774 - 1 \quad X1 = 4.5]$$

$$\frac{-2s2p \ ^{1}P}{A=9.739-1} \quad V=19.68eV \quad X=1.03-100 \quad Type \ 1 \quad Accuracy \ A$$

$$\frac{-2p^2 \ ^3P}{A=2.298-3} \quad V=26.50eV \quad X=1.0-2.18 \quad Type \ 1 \quad Accuracy \ B$$

$$A=2.298-3 \quad B=1.502-3 \quad C=1.469-2 \quad D=-1.356-2 \quad E=0.0$$

$$[P=7.921-3 \quad Q=7.421-4 \quad X1=1.40]$$

$$\frac{-2p^{2} {}^{1}S}{A=-1.925-2} = \frac{V=35.69eV}{B=4.741-2} = \frac{X=1.04-1.60}{C=-1.064-2} = \frac{V=35.69eV}{D=0.0} = \frac{V=35.69eV}{E=2.589-2} = \frac{V=35.69eV}{C=-1.064-2} = \frac{V=35.64}{C=-1.064-2} = \frac$$

$$\frac{-2s3s {}^{1}S}{A=2.909-1} = \frac{V=69.57eV}{B=3.083-2} = \frac{X=1.01-100}{C=-1.596-1} = \frac{V=69.57eV}{D=8.767-2} = 0.0$$

$$\underbrace{\begin{array}{c} -2s3p \ ^{1}P}_{A=-2.736-1} \quad V=71.99eV \quad X=1.01-100 \quad \text{Type 1} \quad \text{Accuracy B} \\ B=3.828-1 \quad C=-8.139-2 \quad D=0.0 \quad E=3.068-1 \end{array} }$$

 $\frac{-2s3p^{3}P}{A=1.215-4} \xrightarrow{V=72.27eV} X=1.01-100 \text{ Type 1} \text{ Accuracy A}$ P=-1.768-1 P=2.745-1 X=1.30

$$\frac{2s^{2} \, {}^{1}S - 2s3d \, {}^{3}D}{A=6.414-6} \xrightarrow{V=74.49eV} X=1.01-100 \text{ Type 1} \text{ Accuracy B}$$

$$\begin{array}{c|c} -2s3d \ ^1D & V=75.93eV \ X=1.01-100 \ \text{Type 1} & \text{Accuracy B} \\ \hline A=5.936-1 & B=-6.319-1 \ C=7.450-2 \ D=1.170-1 \ E=0.0 \end{array}$$

$$\frac{2s2p {}^{3}P - 2s2p {}^{1}P}{A=3.689-2} V=9.48eV X=1.0-4.94 Type 1 Accuracy B$$

$$\frac{1}{P=-2.588-1} V=9.48eV X=1.0-4.94 Type 1 Accuracy B$$

$$\frac{1}{P=-2.588-1} V=9.48eV X=1.0-4.94 Type 1 Accuracy B$$

$$\frac{-2p^{2} {}^{3}P}{A=4.910} = 5.510 C=1.654 D=0.0 E=7.761$$
 Type 1 Accuracy B

$$\frac{-2p^{2} {}^{1}D}{A=7.408-2} = 8.592-1 C=-5.639-1 D=7.353-2 E=0.0 V=18.52eV X=1.03-2.56 Type 1 Accuracy B$$

 $\frac{2s2p \ ^{1}P - 2p^{2} \ ^{3}P}{A=1.465-1} \qquad \begin{array}{c} V=6.82eV \qquad X=1.0-5.66 \qquad \text{Type 1} \qquad \text{Accuracy B} \\ B=4.035-1 \quad C=-5.441-2 \quad D=-1.255-1 \quad E=0.0 \\ P=-3.015-1 \quad Q=9.326-1 \quad X1=1.80 \end{array}$

 $\frac{-2p^2 \ ^1S}{A=1.375} \begin{array}{c} V=16.0eV \\ B=5.958-1 \\ C=3.957-1 \\ D=0.0 \\ E=1.385 \end{array}$ Accuracy B

.

$$\frac{2p^{2} {}^{3}P - 2p^{2} {}^{1}D}{A=9.002-1} = V=2.22eV \quad X=1.0-14.0 \quad \text{Type 1} \quad \text{Accuracy B}$$

$$\frac{-2p^{2} {}^{1}S}{A=2.242-2} = V=9.18eV \quad X=1.14-32.9 \quad \text{Type 1} \quad \text{Accuracy B}$$

$$\frac{-2p^{2} {}^{1}S}{B=5.103-1} = C=-5.846-1 \quad D=2.452-1 \quad E=0.0$$

$$\frac{2p^2 {}^{1}D - 2p^2 {}^{1}S}{A=3.465-1} \xrightarrow{V=6.96eV} X=1.19-3.99 \text{ Type 1} \text{ Accuracy B}$$

.

.

 $\frac{2s^{2}2p^{2}P - 2s2p^{2} ^{4}P}{A = -1.022 - 1} = 1.140 - 1 C = 2.543 - 1 D = -9.621 - 1 E = 1.737 F = 2.0 - 2 P = 3.006 Q = -2.029 X1 = 1.66$

•

- $\frac{-2s2p^{2} {}^{2}D}{A=2.162 B=4.458 C=-1.030 D=0.0 E=3.218} Type 1 Accuracy B$
- $\frac{-2s2p^{2} 2S}{A=1.054 B=1.252 C=-2.153-1 D=0.0 E=1.333}$ Type 1 Accuracy B
- $\frac{-2s2p^{2} {}^{2}P}{A=1.241} = \frac{V=22.36eV}{B=6.902} = \frac{V=22.36eV}{C=-1.398} = \frac{V=1000}{D=0.00} = \frac{10000}{E=0.000} = \frac{10000}{E=0.000} = \frac{10000}{E=0.000} = \frac{10000}{E=0.0000} = \frac{10000}{E=0.0$
- $\frac{-2s^{2}3d}{A=-1.202} \frac{^{2}D}{B=3.442} V=52.02eV X=1.0-100 Type 1 Accuracy C$
- $\frac{2s2p^{2} {}^{4}P 2s2p^{2} {}^{2}D}{A=2.990-1} V=6.89eV X=1.96-96.88 Type 2 Accuracy B$

 O IV (continued)

_

.

.

$$\frac{2s2p^2 {}^{2}D - 2s2p^2 {}^{2}S}{A=2.619-1} = 7.945-1 C=-4.561-1 D=0.0 E=1.790-1$$
Accuracy B

.

$$\frac{-2s2p^2 \ ^2P}{A=-4.831-2} V=6.65eV X=1.08-107.86 Type 2 Accuracy B$$

A=-4.831-2 B=-1.468-1 C=2.635 D=-6.246 E=5.529 F=2.0-2

$$\frac{2s2p^2 \ ^2S - 2s2p^2 \ ^2P}{A=-3.310-3} V=2.01eV X=1.21-285.94 Type 2 Accuracy B$$

- 26 -

 $\frac{2s^{2}2p^{2} {}^{3}P - 2s^{2}2p^{2} {}^{1}D}{A=2.048-1} V=2.49eV X=10-54.2 Type 1 Accuracy A$ $\frac{1}{P=2.329-1} P=2.267+1 C=-5.568+1 D=3.534+1 E=0.0 P=2.329-1 Q=1.905 X1=8.0$

 $\frac{-2s^2 2p^2 \, ^1 S}{A^{=} -2.830 - 2} \quad V^{=} 5.33eV \quad X^{=} 5.0 - 54.2 \quad ^{\circ} \text{ Type 1} \qquad \text{Accuracy A}$ $A^{=} -2.830 - 2 \quad B^{=} 2.333 \quad C^{=} -4.292 \quad D^{=} 2.362 \quad E^{=} 0.0$ $[P^{=} 2.033 - 1 \quad Q^{=} 3.971 - 2 \quad X1^{=} 2.2] \qquad .$

 $\frac{-2s2p^{3} \, {}^{5}S}{A=-4.209-2} \quad V=7.45eV \quad X=1.01-50.0 \quad \text{Type 1} \quad \text{Accuracy A}$ $[P=1.908 \quad Q=-9.649-1 \quad X1=1.6]$

 $\frac{-2s2p^{3} {}^{3}P}{A=2.790 B=3.733 C=-1.388 D=0.0 E=3.952} V=17.63eV X=1.0-5.7 Type 1 Accuracy A$

 $\frac{-2s2p^{3} {}^{1}D}{A=2.175-1} = 3.147-2 C=9.017-2 D=-5.206-1 E=7.260-1 F=4.0-2$

 $\frac{-2s2p^{3} {}^{3}S}{A=3.773} = -6.630 - 1 C=0.0 D=0.0 E=3.517$ Type 1 Accuracy A

 $\frac{-2s2p^{3} P}{A=-3.712-2} V=26.06eV X=1.01-50.0 Type 1 Accuracy B$

$$\frac{2s^{2}2p^{2} {}^{1}D - 2s^{2}2p^{2} {}^{1}S}{A=7.529-2} = B=5.365-1 C=-2.708-1 D=0.0 E=1.154-1 C=-2.198-2 X1=2.5$$

- 27 -

.

$$\frac{2s^{2}2p^{2} {}^{1}D - 2s2p^{3} {}^{3}D}{A=8.217-2} V=12.37eV X=1.48-6.58 Type 1 Accuracy B$$

$$\frac{-2s2p^{3} {}^{3}P}{A=-4.866-2} = 1.117 C=-1.210 D=5.528-1 E=0.0$$
[P=1.584 Q=-1.270 X1=1.3]

$$\frac{2s^{2}2p^{2} \, {}^{1}S - 2s2p^{3} \, {}^{3}D}{A^{=}-2.814-3} \quad V^{=}9.53eV \quad X^{=}1.93-8.58 \quad \text{Type 1} \quad \text{Accuracy B}$$

$$[P^{=}-2.59-1] \quad Q^{=}3.412-1 \quad X^{=}1.4]$$

 $\frac{-2s2p^{3} {}^{3}P}{A=-2.556-2} V=12.30eV X=1.49-6.64 Type 1 Accuracy C$

 $\frac{2s2p^{3} \, {}^{5}S - 2s2p^{3} \, {}^{3}D}{A = -7.277 - 2} \begin{array}{c} V = 7.40 eV \\ B = -1.839 + 2 \\ P = -3.455 - 1 \\ Q = 2.632 \\ X1 = 1.24 \end{array}$

 $\frac{-2s2p^{3} \ ^{3}P}{A=5.087-2} \ V=10.18eV \ X=1.8-8.0 \ Type 2 \ Accuracy B$ $A=5.087-2 \ B=4.700+1 \ C=-2.392+2 \ D=3.450+2 \ E=-1.523+2 \ F=1.1-2 \ [P=2.967-1 \ Q=3.243-1 \ X1=1.8]$

 $\frac{2s2p^{3} {}^{3}D - 2s2p^{3} {}^{3}P}{A=2.948} = 5.846 C=-4.840 D=5.456-1 E=0.0 C$

 $\frac{2s^{2}2p^{3} 4S - 2s^{2}2p^{3} 2D}{A=2.016 B=-1.650 C=8.640-1 D=7.931-2 E=0.0}$ [P=9.967-1 Q=-5.161-2 X1=1.8]

,

$$\frac{-2s^2 2p^{3} 2p}{A=2.306-1} V=5.02eV X=1.0-3.0 Type 1 Accuracy B$$

 $\frac{-2s2p^{4} \, ^{4}P}{A=6.673 B=-4.043 C=0.0 D=0.0 E=1.835}$ Type 1 Accuracy A

.

$$-\frac{2s^2 2p^2 3s^4 P}{A=-2.173 B=4.090 C=-1.510 D=0.0 E=1.465}$$
 Type 1 Accuracy A

 $\frac{2s^{2}2p^{3} \ ^{2}D - 2s^{2}2p^{3} \ ^{2}P}{A=3.072} \ B=-4.123 \ C=5.151 \ D=-2.322 \ E=0.0$ Type 1 Accuracy B
III. Recommended collision strengths and rate coefficients: Graphs and discussions

For each isoelectronic ion of carbon and oxygen, a brief discussion about the data evaluation and a list of data sources are presented first. Then the sets of graphs of the collision strength and the rate coefficient are shown for the excitations of the relevant isoelectronic ions.

The collision strengths are plotted as a function of the reduced energy, X $(=E_e/V_{ij})$. The ordinate scale is indicated by the multiplication factor 'E – n' (= 10⁻ⁿ) at the upper left corner of the graph. The recommended values of the collision strengths are shown only over the validity range given in the table of the last section. The rate coefficients (in cm³/sec) are plotted against the electron temperature (in eV). It is rather difficult to define the corresponding validity range for the rate coefficients. Here the rate coefficients are shown mostly over the whole temperature range considered. Thus, if the validity range of the collision strength is very narrow, a large error may be included in the rate coefficients presented for the lowest and/or highest region of the temperature.

H-like (C VI, O VIII)

For 1s - 2s, 2p, Abu-Salbi and Callaway (1981) made a close-coupling (CC) type calculation with a pseudostate expansion. Based on their results with the basis set of 1s, 2s, 2p states plus three pseudostates, they obtained the collision strengths for 1s - 2s and 1s - 2p in the analytical form of Type 1. To extend their formula to higher energy, they supplemented their cross section with the Coulomb-Born-Exchange (CBX) calculation at the high energy. Their fitting coefficients are adopted here. Below the threshold of n = 3, they made also a calculation with a larger basis set to estimate resonance effects. They found a 6% resonance enhancement of the rate coefficient for 1s - 2s and 3% for 1s - 2p at the lowest temperature. The larger-basis calculation, however, gave somewhat lower non-resonant cross sections. Therefore the present analytical formulas for 1s - 2s and 1s - 2p effectively reproduce the cross sections calculated with the resonance effect taken into account.

For the excitation of the states higher than the n = 2 of C VI, Mann's CBX cross sections are employed here. For highly charged ions like C VI, the CBX method gives fairly good values, especially for the optically-allowed transitions.

Data sources

r

.

Abu-Salbi, N. and Callaway, J. (1981), Phys. Rev. A 24 2372

[1s – 2s, 2p, CC]

Mann, J.B. (1977), quoted in Los Alamos Scientific Laboratory Report, LA-6691-MS,
ed. N.H. Magee, Jr., J.B. Mann, A.L. Merts and W.D. Robb
[1s - 3s, 3p, 3d, 4s, 4p, 5p of C VI, CBX]

.

.

1



F19.1

- 33 -



Ftg.2

- 34 -





- 35 -



dignante nosesiloj

- 36 -

F19.4







- 38 -



ď

CVI

TLLLI B

TITT

mmm



- 39 -



CVΙ

- 40 -

He-like (C V, O VII)

van Wyngaarden et al. (1979) made a close-coupling (CC) calculation with very accurate wavefunctions for the target ions. They coupled five states $(1^{1}S, 2^{1}S, 2^{3}S, 2^{1}P, 2^{3}P)$. Unfortunately they did not take into account the resonance effect. Pradhan et al. (1981a, b) estimated the resonance effect by using the distorted-wave (DW) method. Their target function is not as accurate as that employed by van Wyngaarden et al. Though an extensive calculation was made (for all the transitions among the ground and n = 2 excited states), Pradhan et al. gave only rate coefficients for most cases. For the excitation of the n = 2 states from the ground one, therefore, we adopt the results of van Wyngaarden et al. When the resonance effect is large, the contribution was estimated from the rate coefficient given by Pradhan et al. (1981b) according to the procedure described in the Introduction. For higher energies, we use the distorted wave (DW) calculation by Peek (1977) and Mann (1981).

Recently Pradhan pointed out the radiative correction (due to the effect of radiative decay of the resonant state) should be taken into account in the calculation of Ω_R . He estimated the correction in the case of OVII. His calculation, however, was made over a very limited range of electron energy, so that it is difficult to quantitatively correct the rates given here. The present recommended data do not include the radiative correction. It should be noted therefore that the resonance effect shown in this report might be reduced slightly when the radiative correction is included.

For the transitions among the n = 2 states, the DW method is less reliable at least near threshold, because the levels concerned are nearby in energy and the couplings among them cannot be ignored. Thus, for the transitions among the n = 2states, we adopt the results of the five-state CC made by Robb (1977) near threshold. Norcross (1977) calculated the same cross sections by using another type of the DW method. He employed more refined target wavefunctions. To obtain the present recommended values, Robb's cross sections are smoothly connected with Norcross' values at higher electron energies ($X \ge 10$). For the transition between $2^{1}S$ and $2^{3}P$, the cross section depends sensitively on the target wave function because the two states lie very close. The uncertainty of the cross section may be large for the transition.

A very limited number of calculations have been reported so far for the excitation of higher $(n \ge 3)$ states. Although it is hard to check the reliability of them, we include here those cross sections. They are the Coulomb-Born (CB) calculations of Nakazaki (1976) and Tully and Serrao (1974) and the DW calculation by Davis et al. (1978) and Mann (1981).

f

Data sources

Davis, J., Whitney, K.G. and Apruzese, J.P. (1978), J. Quant. Spectrosc. Radiat.

Transf. 20 353

 $[1^{1}S - 3^{3}D, 3^{1}P \text{ of } C V, DW]$

Mann, J.B. (1981), private communication by A.L. Merts

 $[1^{1}S - 2^{3}S, 2^{1}S, 2^{3}P, 2^{1}P, 3^{3}S, 3^{1}S, 3^{3}P, 3^{1}P, 3^{3}D, 3^{1}D \text{ of } O \text{ VII, } DW]$

Nakazaki, S. (1976), J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 41 2084

 $[1^{1}S - 3^{1}P, 2^{3}P - 3^{3}P, 2^{3}P - 3^{3}S \text{ of } C V; 2^{3}S - 3^{3}P \text{ of } O \text{ VII, } CB]$

Norcross, D.W. (1977), quoted in Los Alamos Scientific Laboratory Report, LA-6691-

MS, ed. N.H. Magee, Jr. et al.

 $[2^{3}S - 2^{1}S, 2^{3}P, 2^{1}P, 2^{1}S - 2^{1}P, 2^{3}P - 2^{1}P, DW]$

Peek, J.M. (1977), quoted in Los Alamos Scientific Laboratory Report, LA-6691-MS,

ed. N.H. Magee, Jr. et al.

 $[1^{1}S - 2^{3}S, 2^{1}S, 2^{3}P, 2^{1}P \text{ of } C V, DW]$

Pradhan, A.K., Norcross, D.W. and Hummer, D.G. (1981a), Phys. Rev. A 23 619 $[1^{1}S - 2^{3}S, 2^{3}P, DW]$

Pradhan, A.K., Norcross, D.W. and Hummer, D.G. (1981b), Astrophys. J. 246 1031 $[1^{1}S - 2^{3}S, 2^{3}P, DW]$

Robb, W.D. (1977), quoted in Los Alamos Scientific Laboratory Report, LA-6691-MS, ed. N.H. Magee, Jr. et al.

[transitions among n = 2 states, CC]

Tully, J.A. and Serrao, J.M.P. (1974), Astron. Astrophys. 33 187

 $[2^3S - 3^3P \text{ of } O \text{ VII, CB}]$

van Wyngaarden, W.L., Bhadra, K. and Henry, R.J.W. (1979), Phys. Rev. A 20 1409 [1¹S - 2³S, 2¹S, 2³P, 2¹P, CC]



- 44 --





Ftg.10

- 45 -



Higher Steneral Colesilio

F19.11

- 46 --



C V D V I I

o^t

(/ e)

ш ⊢

X = E / V



- 47 -



F19.13

- 48 -



F19.14

- 49 -





(









F19.17







Ftg.19

- 54 -



C V D V I I

111,11,

₩IIIII

07



- 56 -





- 57 -



F19.23

- 58 -



HIP REALE NOISILIOJ

F19.24



Collision Strength

F19.25

- 60 -



C V D V I I

T T T T



- 61 -







Li-like (C IV, O VI)

Gau and Henry (1977) made a close-coupling (CC) calculation with five states $(1s^22s, 1s^22p, 1s^23s, 1s^23p, 1s^23d)$. In their calculation, they did not take into account the closed-channel resonance. Later Bhadra and Henry (1982) performed a similar calculation including closed channels. They found that the transition 2s - 2p is slightly affected by the resonances, while 2s - 3s and 2s - 3p are strongly affected. The cross sections presently recommended are taken from the calculation of Gau and Henry corrected with the resonance enhancement factor obtained for 2s - 3s and 2s - 3p by Bhadra and Henry. For O VI, Gau and Henry did not actually calculate the cross section, but their interpolation formula along the isoelectronic sequence is adopted here.

For the transition 2s - 2p of C IV, beam-experiment data were obtained by Taylor et al. (1977). Those data are in quite good agreement with the theoretical values obtained by Gau and Henry. Thus the present cross sections for 2s - 2p are believed to be very accurate.

The CC calculation mentioned above was made only up to X = 5 for 2s - 3s, 3p, 3d. For higher energies, we use the Coulomb-Born-Exchange (CBX) results of Mann (1977) and the distorted wave (DW) values of Mann (1981). These high-energy cross sections are smoothly connected with the low-energy CC values.

Data sources

Bhadra, K. and Henry, R.J.W. (1982), Phys. Rev. A 26 1848

[2s – 3s,3p, CC]

Gau, J.N. and Henry, R.J.W. (1977), Phys. Rev. A 16 986

[2s - 2p,3s,3p,3d, CC]

Mann, J.B. (1977), quoted in Los Alamos Scientific Laboratory Report, LA-6691-MS,

3

ed. N.H. Magee, Jr. et al.

[2s - 2p,3s,3p,3d of C IV, CBX]

Mann, J.B. (1981), private communication

[2s - 2p,3s,3p,3d of O VI, DW]

Taylor, P.O., Gregory, D., Dunn, G.H., Phaneuf, R.A. and Crandall, D.H. (1977), Phys.

Rev. Lett. 39 1256

[2s - 2p of C IV, beam experiment]





- 65 -


103

IIIIIII

C I V D V I

ШЛТ

ШПТТ



- 66 -



Ftg.30

- 67 -



Higherte noisilled

- 68 -

F19.31

Be-like (C III, O V)

Berrington et al. (1981) reported their cross sections obtained by the R-matrix method including six ionic states $(2s^2 \ 1S, 2s^2p \ 3P, \ 1P, 2p^2 \ 3P, \ 1D, \ 1S)$. Their results included the effect of the resonances converging to the n = 2 thresholds. The rate coefficients based on the cross sections were reported separately by Dufton et al. (1978). These results, though the most elaborate and extensive ones published so far, have two drawbacks. First, they reported the collision strengths only for very limited energy range near threshold. That is, the rate coefficients are given only for very narrow range of electron temperature (over one decade around 10^5 K). Further, the effect of the resonances converging to the n = 3 thresholds cannot always be ignored. Berrington et al. (1979) found, in fact, that the resonances increase the $2s^2 \ 1S - 2s^2p \ 3P$ collision strength of O V by about a factor of two, if n = 3 states are included in the calculation. The transition, $2s^2 \ 1S - 2s^2p \ 1P$, was slightly affected.

The present recommended data are based essentially on the calculation of Berrington et al. (1981) and augmented by some other calculations made over a wider energy region. By using the rate coefficients of Dufton et al., the resonance effects are incorporated into the present data, when the effects are large.

For the excitation of n = 3 states, the CBX and the distorted-wave cross sections obtained by Mann (1977, 1981b) are adopted. Recently Widing et al. (1982) published the rate coefficients for $2s^2 \ ^1S - 2s^3s \ ^3S, ^1S$, $2s^3p \ ^3P, ^1P$, $2s^3d \ ^3D, ^1D$ of O V. They obtained them from the R-matrix calculation with 12 states. The collision strengths recommended here for $2s^2 \ ^1S - 2s^3s \ ^3S$ and $2s^2 \ ^1S - 2s^3p \ ^3P$ of O V are adjusted to give those more accurate rate coefficients. For other transitions, the present recommended values are in fair agreement with the Widing calculation when his data are available. Widing et al. (1982) have reported rate coefficients also for $2s^2p \ ^3P - 2s^3s \ ^3S, ^1S$, $2s^3p \ ^3P, ^1P$, $2s^3d \ ^3D, ^1D$ of O V. Since they show their data for a very limited range of electron temperature ($8 \times 10^4 - 5 \times 10^5$ K), we do not show them here.

Data sources

Berrington, K.A., Burke, P.G., Dufton, P.L., Kingston, A.E. and Sinfailam, A.L. (1979),

J. Phys. B 12 L275

 $[2s^{2} IS - 2s^{2}p^{3}P, P of OV, R-matrix]$

Berrington, K.A., Burke, P.G., Dufton, P.L. and Kingston, A.E. (1981), Atomic Data Nucl. Data Tables 26 1

[all transitions among the states of $2s^2$, 2s2p, $2p^2$ configurations, R-matrix]

Dufton, P.L., Berrington, K.A., Burke, P.G. and Kingston, A.E. (1978), Astron. Astrophys. 62 111

[rate coefficients calculated from the collision strengths in Berrington et al. (1981)]

())

()))

Mann, J.B. (1977), quoted in Los Alamos Scientific Laboratory Report, LA-6691-MS, ed. N.H. Magee, Jr. et al.

 $[2s^{2} \ ^{1}S - 2s3s \ ^{3}S, ^{1}S, \ 2s3p \ ^{3}P, ^{1}P, \ 2s3d \ ^{3}D, ^{1}D \text{ of C III, CBX}]$

Mann, J.B. (1981a), private communication by A.L. Merts

 $[2s^{2} {}^{1}S - 2s2p {}^{3}P, {}^{1}P, 2s2p {}^{3}P - 2p^{2} {}^{3}P, DW]$

Mann, J.B. (1981b) private communication

 $[2s^2 \ ^1S - 2s3s \ ^3S, ^1S, \ 2s3p \ ^3P, ^1P, \ 2s3d \ ^3D, ^1D \text{ of } O \text{ V}, DW]$

Nakazaki, S. and Hashino, T. (1982), J. Phys. B 15 2767

 $[2s2p \ ^{1}P - 2p^{2} \ ^{1}D, ^{1}S, Coulomb-Born-Bely]$

Robb, W.D. (1977), quoted in Los Alamos Scientific Laboratory Report, LA-6691-MS,

ed. N.H. Magee, Jr. et al.

 $[2s^{2} {}^{1}S - 2p^{2} {}^{3}P, {}^{1}D, 2s2p {}^{1}P - 2p^{2} {}^{3}P \text{ of C III, CC}]$

Widing, K.G., Doyle, J.G., Dufton, P.L. and Kingston, A.E. (1982), Astrophys. J. 257

913

 $[2s^{2} {}^{1}S - 2s3s {}^{3}S, 2s3p {}^{3}P \text{ of } O V, R-matrix]$



C I I I 0 V

₩IIITT

o



- 71 -

6



- 72 --











- 74 --



Collision Strength

F19.36



HILETON STRENDTH



Collision Strength

- 77 --

F19.38



-- 78 --



Aleron at a substance

F19.40





- 80 -





- 81 -





- 82 -







- 83 -



קלופיזט הסופוווסט

- 84 --

F19.45



Higherte noisilloù

- 85 -

Ftg.46



dignard noisillol

F19.47

- 86 --







- 88 -

F19.49



Ftg.50

- 89 -



Hignands noisillol

- 90 -







- 91 -

B-like (C II, O IV)

Robb (1977) made a close-coupling (CC) calculation with five states $(2s^22p\ ^2P, 2s2p\ ^24P, ^2D, ^2S, ^2P)$. His calculation is employed here together with some less reliable data at higher energies and for highly excited states. It should be noted that Robb did not include closed-channel resonances in his calculation.

For C II, Robb's results are supplemented with the Coulomb-Born-Exchange cross sections obtained by Mann (1977). The agreement between the CBX and CC values is good for $X \ge 10$. For the excitations of $2s^23s$, $2s^23p$, $2s^23d$ states, only the CBX data are available.

In the case of O IV, the distorted-wave calculation by Mann (1981) is used to extend the data by Robb. For the excitation of the n = 3 states, only the scaling formula is available based on the DW calculation by Clarke et al. (1982).

Very recently Hayes (1983) has published a close-coupling calculation for O IV including $2s^22p\ ^2P$, $2s2p^2\ ^4P$, 2D , 2S , 2P , $2p^3\ ^4S$, 2D , 2P states. She took account of the effects of the closed-channel resonance, but reported only the rate coefficients for $(1.0 - 22.0) \times 10^4$ K. For the transitions $2s^22p\ ^2P - 2s2p^2\ ^4P$, $2s2p^2\ ^4P - 2s2p\ ^2P$ and $2s2p\ ^2\ ^4P - 2s2p\ ^2\ ^2P$, our original recommended values derived from the calculations of Robb (1977) and Mann (1981) have been modified to reproduce the Hayes rate coefficients. For the other transitions, such modification could not be made, but the present values of the rate coefficients are in fair agreement with the Hayes ones, except for $2s2p\ ^2\ ^4P - 2s2p\ ^2\ ^2S$. For the transitions to the states having $2p\ ^3$, only the rate coefficients calculated by Hayes are available.

Data sources

Clarke, R.E.H., Magee, Jr., N.H., Mann, J.B. and Merts, A.L. (1982), Astrophys. J.

254 412

$$[2s^2p \ ^2P - 2s^23s \ ^2S, 2s^23d \ ^2D \text{ of O IV, DW}]$$

Hayes, M.A. (1983), J. Phys. B 16 285

 $[2s^{2}2p \ ^{2}P - 2s^{2}p^{2} \ ^{4}P, \ 2s^{2}p^{2} \ ^{4}P - 2s^{2}p^{2} \ ^{2}D,^{2}P \text{ of } O \text{ IV, CC}]$

Mann, J.B. (1977), quoted in Los Alamos Scientific Laboratory Report, LA-6691-MS,

ed. N.H. Magee, Jr. et al.

$$[2s^{2}2p \ ^{2}P - 2s^{2}p^{2} \ ^{2}D, ^{2}S, ^{2}P, \ 2s^{2}3s \ ^{2}S, \ 2s^{2}3p \ ^{2}P, \ 2s^{2}3d \ ^{2}D \text{ of C II, CBX}]$$

Mann, J.B. (1981), private communication

 $[2s^2p \ ^2P - 2s2p^2 \ ^2S, ^2P \text{ of O IV, DW}]$

Robb, W.D. (1977), quoted in Los Alamos Scientific Laboratory Report, LA-6691-MS,

ed. N.H. Magee, Jr. et al.

[transitions among 2s²2p ²P, 2s2p² ⁴P,²D,²S,²P, CC]



dignante noisilloj

F19.53

- 94 -





- 95 -



٠.

- 96 -



F19.56

- 97 -





- 98 -







- 100 -



Higher Strength

Ftg.60




- 102 -



Ftg.62



Higher Stones 1100





- 105 -



F19.65

- 106 --

C-like (O III)

Using the R-matrix method, Baluja et al. (1980, 1981) calculated the cross sections for various transitions among the states having the configurations $2s^22p^2$, $2s2p^3$ and $2p^4$. Their results included the resonance effect. They gave collision strengths only for the non-resonant part of the transitions among $2s^22p^2 \ ^3P, ^1D, ^1S$ and the excitations $2s^22p^2 \ ^3P - 2s2p^3 \ ^5S, 2s2p^3 \ ^5S - 2s2p^3 \ ^3D, 2s2p^3 \ ^5S - 2s2p^3 \ ^3P$. Otherwise rate coefficients were presented.

For the non-resonant part of the cross sections, the following data are adopted here. For $2s^22p^2 {}^3P - 2s^22p^2 {}^1D$, ¹S, the values obtained by Baluja et al. (1981) are used with the cross sections calculated at the higher energies by the distorted wave method [Mann (1981)]. For $2s^22p^2 {}^3P - 2s2p^3 {}^5S$, Mann's DW values are used throughout the whole energy range, since the number of the data points given by Baluja et al. (1980) is very few. In general, the agreement between the DW and the R-matrix results is very good when a comparison can be made. For $2s^22p^2 {}^1D - 2s^22p^2 {}^1S$, the cross sections obtained by Baluja et al. (1981) are too small compared with other calculations. This may be the result of including an insufficient number of partial waves. The DW cross sections of Mann (1981), therefore, are adopted instead. The data given by Baluja et al. (1980) are used for $2s2p^3 {}^5S - 2s2p^3 {}^3D$, ³P and the DW cross sections by Bhatia et al. (1979) for other transitions among $2s^22p^2 {}^1S$, ¹D, $2s2p^3 {}^3D$, ³P.

The resonance effect is incorporated according to the procedure described in the Introduction. The procedure has been successful except for $2s^22p^2 {}^{1}D - 2s2p^3 {}^{3}D$, $2s^22p^2 {}^{1}S - 2s2p^3 {}^{3}P$ and $2s2p^3 {}^{3}D - 2s2p^3 {}^{3}P$, for which the present recommended data should be less reliable.

For some of the excitations from the ground state to the states having the configuration $2s2p^3$, Ho and Henry (1983) have recently made a two-state CC calculation. Mann's DW results are adopted here for the excitations of the other states of $2s2p^3$.

Data sources

Baluja, K.L., Burke, P.G. and Kingston, A.E. (1980), J. Phys. B 13 829

$$[2s^{2}2p^{2} {}^{3}P - 2s2p^{3} {}^{5}S, 2s2p^{3} {}^{5}S - 2s2p^{3} {}^{3}D, {}^{3}P, R-matrix]$$

Baluja, K.L., Burke, P.G. and Kingston, A.E. (1981), J. Phys. B 14 119

[transitions among 2s²2p², 2s2p³, 2p⁴, R-matrix]

Bhatia, A.K., Doschek, G.A. and Feldman, U. (1979), Astron. Astrophys. 76 359

$$[2s^{2}2p^{2} \ ^{1}D - 2s2p^{3} \ ^{3}D, ^{3}P, \ 2s^{2}2p^{2} \ ^{1}S - 2s2p^{3} \ ^{3}D, ^{3}P, \ 2s2p^{3} \ ^{3}D - 2s2p^{3} \ ^{3}P,$$

DW]

Ho, Y.K. and Henry, R.J.W. (1983), Astrophys. J. 264 733

 $[2s^22p^2 {}^{3}P - 2s2p^3 {}^{3}D, {}^{3}P, {}^{3}S, CC]$

Mann, J.B. (1981), private communication

 $[2s^{2}2p^{2} {}^{3}P - 2s^{2}2p^{2} {}^{1}D, {}^{1}S, 2s^{2}2p^{2} {}^{3}P - 2s^{2}p^{3} {}^{5}S, {}^{1}D, {}^{1}P, 2s^{2}2p^{2} {}^{1}D - 2s^{2}2p^{2} {}^{1}S, DW]$







1110



Higheric noisillol







- 112 -







Lollision Strength

- 115 -

F1g.72







- 117 -



Aignands noisillod

- 118 -



- 119 -



Ftg.77

- 120 -



- 121 -



Higneric noisilloù

- 122 -

Ftg.79





- 123 -



- 124 -

N-like (O II)

Pradhan (1976a) made a close-coupling (CC) calculation with five states $(2s^22p^3 4S, ^2D, ^2P, 2s2p^4 4P, ^2D)$ and obtained rate coefficients therefrom [Pradhan (1976b)]. His calculation includes the resonance effect, but gives the data over a very limited range of electron energy. Henry et al. (1969) performed a similar CC calculation but with only the lowest three states and no closed-channel resonances.

For $2s^22p^3 4S - 2s^22p^3 ^2D$, the values of Henry et al. are adopted for the non-resonant part of the cross section and the resonance effect is incorporated with the aid of Pradhan's rate coefficient. In the non-resonant region, both the CC calculations give almost the same cross sections.

For the transitions, $2s^22p^3 4S - 2s^22p^3 ^2P$ and $2s^22p^3 ^2P - 2s^22p^3 ^2D$, only the results of Henry et al. are used to give the present recommended data. The resulting rate coefficients are in a fair agreement with those of Pradhan. The present data, therefore, give collision strengths effectively including the resonance effect.

Recently Ho and Henry (1983) carried out a two-state CC calculation for $2s^22p^3 4S - 2s2p^4 4P$ and $2s^22p^3 4S - 2s^22p^23s 4P$. Those data are included here.

Data sources

Henry, R.J.W., Burke, P.G. and Sinfailam, A.L. (1969), Phys. Rev. 178 218

[transitions among 2s²2p³ 4S,²D,²P, CC]

Ho, Y.K. and Henry, R.J.W. (1983), Astrophys. J. 264 733

$$[2s^22p^3 4S - 2s2p^4 4P, 2s^22p^23s 4P, CC]$$

Pradhan, A.K. (1976a), J. Phys. B 9 433

 $[2s^22p^3 {}^4S - 2s^22p^3 {}^2D, CC]$

Pradhan, A.K. (1976b), Mon. Not. R. Astr. Soc. 177 31

 $[2s^22p^3 {}^4S - 2s^22p^3 {}^2D, CC]$



110

⊞∏Ţ⊤Ţ

1111111

11111111



O⁷

0

100

-0

03

0

ം

0.0

*I_0I

TITIT

ΠΠΓΓΓ

X = E / V



- 128 -





- 129 -





- 130 -



- 131 -

Appendix

,

FORTRAN Program for the calculation of rate coefficients.

```
FUNCTION RATEN(TEMP, EIJ, GI, ITYPE, A, B, C, D, E, F)
00010
             RATE COEFFICIENT WITHOUT RESONANCES ------
00050 C
         ----
             TEMP ..... TEMPERATURE IN EV
00030 C
             ۹IJ
                  .....THRESHOLD ENERGY IN EV
00040 C
         •
                   .....STATISTICAL WEIGHT OF INITIAL STATE
00050 C
             GI
             ITYPE =1 ... POWER - LOG TYPE
00060 C
                    =2 ... EXPONENTIAL TYPE
00070 C
00080 C
00090
             S=0.5
00100
             CONST=8.010E-8/((SQRT(TEMP)*GI))
00110
             Y=EIJ/TEMP
00130
             IF(ITYPE.EQ.2) GO TO 10
00140 C
         -- CASE OF TYPE=1 --
             RA=A/Y+ C+ S*D*(1.-Y)

RB=B- C*Y+ S*D*Y*Y+ E/Y
00150
00160
             RATEN=CONST*EXP(-Y)*Y*(RA+EIEXP(Y)*RB)
00170
00180
             RETURN
00190 C
             CASE OF TYPE=2
         ---
         10 RA=A*(1.-EIEXP(Y)*Y)
00200
             RB=B*EXP(-F)/(F+Y) + C*EXP(-2.*F)/(2.*F+Y)+D*EXP(-3.*F)/(3.*F+Y)
00210
00220
           1 + E*EXP(-4.*F)/(4.*F+Y)
             RATEN=CONST*EXP(-Y)*Y*(RA+RB)
00230
00240
             RETURN
00250
             END
00251 C
00260 C
             SUBROUTINE RATER(TEMP,EIJ,GI,ITYPE,A,B,C,D,E,F,P,Q,X1)
00270
00280 C ---
             RATE COEFFICIENT WITH RESONANCES -----
00290 C
             TEMP .....TEMPERATURE IN EV
                  .....THRESHOLD ENERGY IN EV
00300 C
             EIJ
             GI .....STATISTICAL WEIGHT OF INITIAL STATE
ITYPE =1 ...POWER - LOG TYPE
00310 C
00320 C
                   =2 ... EXPONENTIAL TYPE
00330 C
00340 C
             S=0.5
00350
00360
             CONST=8.010E-8/((SQRT(TEMP)*GI))
00370
             Y=EIJ/TEMP
             Y1=Y*X1
00380
00390
             IF(ITYPE.EQ.2) GO TO 10
             CASE OF TYPE=1 ----
00400 C
         --
             RA=A/Y+C/X1+S*D*(1./(X1*X1)-Y/X1)+E*LOG(X1)/Y
00410
00420
             RB=B-C*Y+S*D*Y*Y+E/Y
             RNOR=CONST*Y*EXP(-Y1)*(RA+EIEXP(Y1)*RB)
00430
00440
             GO TO 20
00450 C --
             CASE OF TYPE=2 ---
         10 RA=A*(1./X1-EIEXP(Y1)*Y)
00460
             RB= B*EXP(-F*X1)/(F+Y)+C*EXP(-2.*F*X1)/(2.*F+Y)
00470
                +D*EXP(-3.*F*X1)/(3.*F+Y) +E*EXP(-4.*F*X1)/(4.*F+Y)
00480
           1
00490
             RNOR=CONST*Y*EXP(-Y1)*(RA+RB)
00500
             RRES=CONST*EXP(-Y)*(P*(1.+1./Y)*(1.-EXP((1.-X1)*Y)*(X1+1./Y)/
         20
                      (1.+1./Y)) +Q*(1.-EXP((1.-X1)*Y)))
00510
           1
             RATE=RNOR + RRES
00520
00540
             RETURN
00550
             END
00551 C
00560 C
```

00570	С		
00580			FUNCTION EIEXP(X)
00590	С		
00600	С		EIEXP=E1(X)*EXP(X)
00610	č		HANDBOOK OF MATHEMATICAL FUNCTIONS, PAGE 231
00620	č		BY M. ABRAMOWITZ AND I.A. STEGUN
00630	č		
00640	-		IF(X.GT.1.0) GO TO 10
00650			A0=-0.57721566
00660			A1=0-99999193
00670			A2=24991055
00680			A3=0-05519968
00690			A4=-0.00976004
00700			A5=0.00107857
00710			EIEXP=(A0+A1*X+A2*X**2+A3*X**3+A4*X**4+A5*X**5-L0G(X))*EXP(X)
00720			RETURN
00730		10	A1=8,5733287401
00740			A2=18.0590169730
00750			A3=8.6347608925
00760			A4= .2677737343
00770			B1=9.5733223454
00780			B2=25.6329561486
00790			B3=21.0996530827
00800			B4=3.9584969228
00810			EIEXP=(X**4+A1*X**3+A2*X**2+A3*X+A4)/
00820		1	(X**4+B1*X**3+B2*X**2+B3*X+B4)/X
00830			RETURN
00840			END
00850	С		
			•

`

•

LIST OF IPPJ-AM REPORTS

IPPJ-AM-1*	"Cross Sections for Charge Transfer of Hydrogen Beams in Gases and Vapors
	in the Energy Range 10 eV-10 keV"
,	H. Tawara (1977) [Published in Atomic Data and Nuclear Data Tables 22, 491 (1978)]
IPPJ-AM-2*	"Ionization and Excitation of Ions by Electron Impact – Review of Empirical
	Formulae"
•	T. Kato (1977)
IPPJ-AM-3	"Grotrian Diagrams of Highly Ionized Iron FeVIII-FeXXVI"
	K. Mori, M. Otsuka and T. Kato (1977) [Published in Atomic Data and
	Nuclear Data Tables 23, 196 (1979)]
IPPJ-AM-4	"Atomic Processes in Hot Plasmas and X-Ray Emission"
	T. Kato (1978)
IPPJ-AM-5*	"Charge Transfer between a Proton and a Heavy Metal Atom"
	S.Hiraide, Y. Kigoshi and M. Matsuzawa (1978)
IPPJ-AM-6*	"Free-Free Transition in a Plasma – Review of Cross Sections and Spectra-"
	T. Kato and H. Narumi (1978)
IPPJ-AM-7*	"Bibliography on Electron Collisions with Atomic Positive Ions: 1940
	Through 1977"
	K. Takayanagi and T. Iwai (1978)
IPPJ-AM-8	"Semi-Empirical Cross Sections and Rate Coefficients for Excitation and
	Ionization by Electron Collision and Photoionization of Helium"
	T. Fujimoto (1978)
IPPJ-AM-9	"Charge Changing Cross Sections for Heavy-Particle Collisions in the Energy
	Range from 0.1 eV to 10 MeV I. Incidence of He, Li, Be, B and Their Ions"
	Kazuhiko Okuno (1978)
IPPJ-AM-10	"Charge Changing Cross Sections for Heavy-Particle Collisions in the Energy
	Range from 0.1 eV to 10 MeV II. Incidence of C, N, O and Their Ions"
	Kazuhiko Okuno (1978)
IPPJ-AM-11	"Charge Changing Cross Sections for Heavy-Particle Collisions in the Energy
	Range from 0.1 eV to 10 Mev III. Incidence of F, Ne, Na and Their Ions"
	Kazuhiko Okuno (1978)
IPPJ-AM-12*	"Electron Impact Excitation of Positive Ions Calculated in the Coulomb-
	Born Approximation – A Data List and Comparative Survey–"
	S. Nakazaki and T. Hashino (1979)
IPPJ-AM-13	"Atomic Processes in Fusion Plasmas – Proceedings of the Nagoya Seminar
	on Atomic Processes in Fusion Plasmas Sept. 5-7, 1979"
	Ed. by Y. Itikawa and T. Kato (1979)
IPPJ-AM-14	"Energy Dependence of Sputtering Yields of Monatomic Solids"
	N. Matsunami, Y. Yamamura, Y. Itikawa, N. Itoh, Y. Kazumata,
	S. Miyagawa, K. Morita and R. Shimizu (1980)

(

1

IPPJ-AM-15	"Cros's Sections for Charge Transfer Collisions Involving Hydrogen Atoms" Y. Kaneko, T. Arikawa, Y. Itikawa, T. Iwai, T. Kato, M. Matsuzawa, Y. Nakai, K. Okuno, H. Ryufuku, H. Tawara and T. Watanabe (1980)
IPPJ-AM-16	"Two-Centre Coulomb Phaseshifts and Radial Functions" H. Nakamura and H. Takagi (1980)
IPPJ-AM-17	"Empirical Formulas for Ionization Cross Section of Atomic Ions for Electron Collisions –Critical Review with Compilation of Experimental Data–" Y. Itikawa and T. Kato (1981)
IPPJ-AM-18	"Data on the Backscattering Coefficients of Light Ions from Solids" T. Tabata, R. Ito, Y. Itikawa, N. Itoh and K. Morita (1981)
IPPJ-AM-19	"Recommended Values of Transport Cross Sections for Elastic Collision and Total Collision Cross Section for Electrons in Atomic and Molecular Gases" M. Hayashi (1981)
IPPJ-AM-20	"Electron Capture and Loss Cross Sections for Collisions between Heavy Ions and Hydrogen Molecules" Y. Kaneko, Y. Itikawa, T. Iwai, T. Kato, Y. Nakai, K. Okuno and H. Tawara
IPPJ-AM-21	(1981) "Surface Data for Fusion Devices – Proceedings of the U.S.–Japan Work- shop on Surface Data Review Dec. 14-18, 1981"
IPPJ-AM-22	Ed. by N. Itoh and E.W. Thomas (1982) "Desorption and Related Phenomena Relevant to Fusion Devices" Ed. by A. Koma (1982)
IPPJ-AM-23	"Dielectronic Recombination of Hydrogenic Ions" T. Fujimoto, T. Kato and Y. Nakamura (1982)
IPPJ-AM-24	"Bibliography on Electron Collisions with Atomic Positive Ions: 1978 Through 1982 (Supplement to IPPJ-AM-7)" Y. Itikawa (1982)
IPPJ-AM-25	"Bibliography on Ionization and Charge Transfer Processes in Ion-Ion Collision" H. Tawara (1983)
IPPJ-AM-26	"Angular Dependence of Sputtering Yields of Monatomic Solids" V. Vamamura, V. Itikawa and N. Itoh (1983)
IPPJ-AM-27	"Recommended Data on Excitation of Carbon and Oxygen Ions by Electron Collisions" Y. Itikawa, S. Hara, T. Kato, S. Nakazaki, M.S. Pindzola and D.H. Crandall (1983)

.•

•

÷

. •

Available upon request to Research Information Center, Institute of Plasma Physics, Nagoya University, Nagoya 464, Japan, except for the reports noted with*.